Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-30-2015

Hamilton v. State of Idaho, Department of Transportation Appellant's Brief Dckt. 43510

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: Mr. Hamilton was given a driver's license suspension as a result of his failure of a breath test on September 7, 2014, pursuant to Idaho Code §18-8002A. There was a judicial review of the Idaho Transportation Department's hearing officer's decision upholding the license suspension of Mr. Hamilton. The license suspension began on October 7, 2015.

Party Reference: The Idaho Transportation Department is referred to as "ITD" or "Department" for the purposes of this argument. Mr. Hamilton is referred to by name. Idaho State Police Forensic Services is referred to as "ISP" or "ISPFS."

Standard of Review: In *Druffell v. State Department of Transportation*, 136 Id. 853, 41 P.3d 739 (2002), the Supreme Court set out the standard of review in matters dealing with the judicial reviews of administrative proceedings, the Court stated:

"Under the IDAPA, the ITD's decision may be overturned only where its findings: a) violate statutory or constitutional provisions; b) exceed the agency's statutory authority; c) or made upon unlawful procedures; d) are not supported by substantial evidence in the record; or e) are arbitrary, capricious, or an abuse of discretion. I.C. Section 67-5279(3).

At p. 855. See also *Atwood v. State of Idaho, Department of Transportation*, 155 Idaho 884, 318 P.3d 653 (Ct. App. 2014) and *Elias-Cruz v. Idaho Department of Transportation*, 153 Id. 200, 280 P.3d 703 (2012).

Idaho Code §18-8002A(7) sets out the burden of the driver to demonstrate to the Hearing Officer that license suspension should be vacated. The review of disputed issues of fact must be confined to the agency record for judicial review. I.C. §67-5277. I.C. §67-5279(1) sets out the scope of review. *Bennett v. State of Idaho, Department of Transportation*, 147 Id. 141, 206 P.3d 505 (Ct. App. 2009). The Court shall not substitute its judgment for that of the agency as to the weight of the evidence presented. Upon judicial review of an administrative hearing officer's order a Court may not set aside findings unless those findings are "not supported by substantial evidence on the Record as a whole" I.C. §67-5279(3)(d). *Mahurin v. State of Idaho, Department of Transportation*, 140 Id. 65, 99 P.3d 125, (2004). See also *Gibbar v. State of Idaho, Department of Transportation*, 143 Id. 937, 155 P.3d 1176, (Ct. App. 2006). The appropriate remedy pursuant to the Idaho Administrative Procedures Act is: "... if the agency is not affirmed, it shall be set aside, in whole or in part and remanded for further proceedings as necessary." I.C. §67-5279(3). See *Gibbar* at p. 1181. The Idaho Supreme Court has held that the decision of the Transportation Department must be affirmed,

¹(7) Administrative hearing on suspension. ... The burden of proof shall be on the person requesting the hearing. The hearing officer shall not vacate the suspension unless he finds, by a preponderance of the evidence, that:

⁽a) The peace officer did not have legal cause to stop the person; or

⁽b) The officer did not have legal cause to believe the person had been driving or was in actual physical control of a vehicle while under the influence of alconol, drugs or other intoxicating substances in violation of the provisions of section 18-8004, 18-8004C or 18-8006, Idaho Code; or

⁽c) The test results did not show an alcohol concentration or the presence of drugs or other intoxicating substances in violation of section 18-8004, 18-8004C or 18-8006, Idaho Code; or

⁽d) The tests for alcohol concentration, drugs or other intoxicating substances administered at the direction of the peace officer were not conducted in accordance with the requirements of section 18-8004(4), Idaho Code, or the testing equipment was not functioning properly when the test was administered; or

⁽e) The person was not informed of the consequences of submitting to evidentiary testing as required in subsection (2) of this section.

If the hearing officer finds that the person has not met his burden of proof, he shall sustain the suspension. The hearing officer shall make findings of fact and conclusions of law on each issue and shall enter an order vacating or sustaining the suspension. The findings of fact, conclusions of law and order entered by the hearing officer shall be considered a final order pursuant to the provisions of chapter 52, title 67, Idaho Code, except that motions for reconsideration of such order shall be allowed and new evidence can be submitted. ...

unless the order violates statutory or constitutional provisions, exceeds the agency's authority, is made upon unlawful procedure, is not supported by substantial evidence, or is arbitrary, capricious or an abuse of discretion. *Marshall v. Idaho Transportation Department*, 137 Id. 337, 48 P.3d 666 (2002). The party challenging the agency decision must demonstrate that the agency erred in a manner specified in I.C. §67-5279(3) and that a substantial right of that party has been prejudiced. *Gibbar v. State of Idaho, Department of Transportation*, 143 Id. 937, 155 P.3d 1176, (Id. App. 2006).

A hearing pursuant to I.C. §18-8002A results in an agency action and is therefor governed by the Idaho Administrative Procedure Act. The constitutionality of a statute or administrative regulation is a question of law over which this court exercises free review. *Wanner v. State*, 151 Id. 164, 244 P.3d 1250 (2011) at p. 1253. The Idaho Administrative Procedure Act governs the review of Department decisions to deny, cancel, suspend, disqualify, revoke or restrict a persons driver's license. See I.C. §§49-330, 67-5270, 49-201, 67-5201(2). *Bell v. Idaho Department of Transportation*, 151 Idaho 659, 262 P.3d. 1030 (2011).

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS AND COURSE OF PROCEEDING

Mr. Hamilton was stopped on September 6, 2014, in Lewiston, Idaho because of the following: ". . . for improper registration sticker (obstructive white color in lower right corner and red color sticker near the bottom edge near the middle, I.C. 49-443(4) ...". Exhibit to Clerk's Record at p. 6.

Mr. Hamilton submitted pictures to the hearing officer, one being the picture of his license plate as it existed at the time of the stop. Exhibit to Clerk's Record at p. 332. See also color pictures submitted as a result of the Objection to the Record. Pictures of another license plate were provided as evidence. Exhibits to Clerk's Record at pp. 329-331. These are picture of Mr. Ed Litteneker's license plates. Tr. at p. 14. Mr. Hamilton was stopped and was requested to take field sobriety tests. He was detained and asked to take a breath test. His breath test was noted as a .108 and .111. . Exhibit to Clerk's Record at pp. 3-4.

The hearing officer found: "Senior Trooper Talbott stopped the vehicle driven by Hamilton for having an improper registration sticker, a violation of Idaho Code §49-443(4)." Exhibit to Clerk's Record at p. 361. The hearing officer noted: "Even if Idaho Code §49-443(4) is not an infraction traffic violation, Exhibit O shows Hamilton was still driving a motor vehicle in violation of this statute." Exhibit to Clerk's Record. at p. 362. The hearing officer also stated: "Idaho Code §49-428(2) clearly notes a vehicle is not properly registered if the registration sticker is not located

² 49-443. LICENSE PLATES TO BE FURNISHED BY DEPARTMENT -- FORM AND CONTENTS...(4) License plates issued for vehicles required to be registered in accordance with the provisions of sections 49-402 and 49-402A, Idaho Code, shall be issued color coded red, white or blue registration validation stickers showing the year of registration. Each registration validation sticker shall bear a number from 1 through 12, which number shall correspond to the month of the calendar year in which the registration of the vehicle expires and shall be affixed to the lower right-hand corner of the plates within the outlined rectangular area.

on the license plate as set forth in Idaho Code §49-443(4)." Exhibit to Clerk's Record at p. 361. He also stated: "Hamilton was not only in violation of Idaho Code §49-443(4), he was also in violation of Idaho Code §49-428(2) when he placed the registration sticker in the incorrect area on the license plate." Exhibit to Clerk's Record at p. 361.

Mr. Hamilton was called as a witness to testify about his license plate. He was asked: "Q: Okay. So your license was properly registered for 2014? A: And 2015. Q: Right. And 2015. A: Correct." Exhibit to Clerk's Record, Tr. at p. 10, ll 12-16. The arresting officer did not testify as he avoided service of process regarding his subpoena. Exhibit to Clerk's Record at p. 333. The hearing was held on October 1, 2014. The hearing officer sustained a suspension. Exhibit to Clerk's Record at p. 358. A timely request for judicial review was requested. Exhibit to Clerk's Record at p. 382. The District Court heard the matter on May 18, 2015 and issued its decision on July 31, 2015, . Exhibit to Clerk's Record at p. 102. A timely appeal was filed to the Supreme Court regarding issues of first impression about the interpretation of Idaho statutes I.C. §§49-428(2), 49-443(4) and 49-456(1). Is it a law violation to place a registration sticker near the small rectangle on the license plate instead of in the rectangle and whether this statutory scheme is vague.

³ 49-428. DISPLAY OF PLATE AND STICKERS. (1) License plates assigned to a motor vehicle shall be attached, one (1) in the front and the other in the rear, ... License plates shall be displayed during the current registration year. The annual registration sticker for the current registration year shall be displayed on each license plate, except for trailers and semitrailers on extended registration under the provisions of section 49-434, Idaho Code. For the purposes of this title, the license plates together with the registration stickers shall be considered as license plates for the year designated on the registration sticker.

⁽²⁾ Every license plate shall at all times be securely fastened to the vehicle to which it is assigned to prevent the plate from swinging, be at a height not less than twelve (12) inches from the ground, measuring from the bottom of the plate, be in a place and position to be clearly visible, and shall be maintained free from foreign materials and in a condition to be clearly legible, and all registration stickers shall be securely attached to the license plates and shall be displayed as provided in section 49-443(4), Idaho Code.

V. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- A. There Was No Legal Cause to Stop Hamilton Pursuant to Idaho Code §18-8002A(7)(a)
- B. The Statutes Are Vague: Idaho Code §§49-428(2). 49-443(4) and 49-456(1); Idaho Code Is Unconstitutionally Vague with Regard to the Application of Chapter 4, Title 49
- C. The Requirement for Rulemaking with Regard to the Standard Operating Procedure Was Not Followed, Therefore, the Breath Test Was Invalid
- D. The Standard Operating Procedure in Existence at the Time of Mr. Hamilton's Stop Was Not Properly a Rule and Therefore the Breath Test Was Invalid.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. THERE WAS NO LEGAL CAUSE TO STOP HAMILTON PURSUANT TO IDAHO CODE §18-8002A(7)(a)

The hearing officer wrongly decided that Mr. Hamilton had an "improper registration sticker". There is nothing on the record that indicates that Mr. Hamilton's registration sticker was improper. In addition, there is nothing on this record that supports the hearing officer's statement that: "Idaho Code §49-428(2) clearly notes a vehicle is not properly registered if the registration sticker is not located on the license plate as set forth in Idaho Code §49-443(4)." Exhibit to Clerk's Record at p. 361. The hearing officer makes conclusionary statements but provides no analysis of the statute nor an analysis of any case law that supports what are clearly ill-informed points. There is nothing in the record that indicates that the registration document that was provided to the arresting officer was incorrect. There is nothing on this record to show that the license plate was not a current license plate. There is nothing about the registration sticker that indicates that it is out of date or falsified or that it is not a duly purchased registration sticker for 2014 - 2015. The fact that the registration sticker wasn't in the rectangle doesn't mean it was an "improper registration sticker" and it doesn't mean the vehicle wasn't properly registered. The license plate displayed the current registration sticker for the current registration year.

The Court can easily see that the decision made by the hearing officer is flawed as Idaho Code §49-456(1) states as follows:

Violation of Registration Provisions. It shall be <u>unlawful</u> for any person: (1) To operate or for the owner to permit the operation upon a highway of any motor vehicle, trailer or semitrailer which is not registered and which does not have attached and displayed the license plates assigned to it for the current registration year ... (emphasis added as to what is underlined)

If the Legislature had wanted there to be a law violation for the failure to place the sticker then the Legislature could have specifically set this out in I.C. §49-456(1) as it did in I.C. §49-456(2), which reads:

(2) To operate or for the owner to permit the operation on state and federal lands or upon highways, or sections of highways, as permitted under section 49-426(3) and (4), Idaho Code, any all-terrain vehicle, utility type vehicle or motorbike that does not have a valid and properly displayed restricted license plate issued pursuant to this chapter and attached registration sticker issued pursuant to section 67-7122, Idaho Code, subject to the exemptions allowed in section 49-426(2), Idaho Code. (emphasis added)

The Legislation was specific in subsection 2 about registration stickers for off road type vehicles. On this record, there is no evidence to support the hearing officer's finding that Trooper Talbott stopped the vehicle driven by Mr. Hamilton for having an "improper registration sticker" in violation of I.C. §49-443(4). Exhibit to Clerk's Record at p. 361. Mr. Hamilton had a proper registration sticker on his license plate.

The Idaho Infraction Rules don't indicate that I.C. §49-443(4) is an infraction. See Idaho Infraction Rules, Rule 9(b)(15)⁴, this rule is specific to license plates.

⁴ Failure to display license plate. Section 49-428, Idaho Code. (Fixed penalty \$10.50, court costs \$16.50, county justice fund fee \$5.00, peace officers training fee \$15.00, court technology fund fee \$10.00, and emergency surcharge fee \$10.00)

Idaho Code §49-443(1) notes: "...each license plate and registration sticker shall be treated with a fully reflectorized material according to specifications prescribed by the board." Mr. Hamilton had the required license plate and sticker on his vehicle.

Mr. Hamilton's license plate was registered for the current year, 2014 - 2014. His license plate was securely fastened, was not less than twelve (12) inches from the ground and was maintained free of foreign material and in a condition to be clearly legible. The registration sticker was securely attached to Mr. Hamilton's license plate. The Legislature made it clear that placement of the license plate and the sticker was to make sure that they were legible for law enforcement's observation. There is no question in this case that the current registration sticker was clearly visible to Trooper Talbott.

Failing to place the stickers in the rectangle area is not a law violation pursuant to I.C. §49-456(1). The legibility of the sticker and the securing of the license plate are what is deemed important by the Legislature. One could look at I.C. §49-443(4)⁵ and note that there is no requirement for the registration sticker to actually be legible. A registration sticker could be turned around with the color and the registration information facing the license plate as long as it was

 $_{0}^{5}$ DISPLAY OF PLATE AND STICKERS. (1) License plates assigned to a motor vehicle shall be attached, one (1) in the front and the other in the rear...

License plates shall be displayed during the current registration year. The annual registration sticker for the current registration year shall be displayed on each license plate, . . . For the purposes of this title, the license plates together with the registration stickers shall be considered as license plates for the year designated on the registration sticker.

⁽²⁾ Every license plate shall at all times be securely fastened to the vehicle to which it is assigned to prevent the plate from swinging, be at a height not less than twelve (12) inches from the ground, measuring from the bottom of the plate, be in a place and position to be clearly visible, and shall be maintained free from foreign materials and in a condition to be clearly legible, and all registration stickers shall be securely attached to the license plates and shall be displayed as provided in section 49-443(4), Idaho Code.

placed in the lower right-hand corner of the plate; at least this is an argument that could be made based upon the literal reading of I.C. §49-443(4). The Court can note that there is no requirement in I.C. §49-428 for the registration sticker to be legible. The statute specifically addresses the legibility of the license plate but not the sticker.

Mr. Hamilton has the affirmative duty to show the trooper lacked legal cause to stop his vehicle. The Courts have routinely used the following standard:

"A traffic stop by an officer constitutes a seizure of the vehicles occupants and implicates the Fourth Amendment's prohibition against unreasonable search and seizures. Delware v. Prouse, 440 U.S. 648, 653, 99 S. Ct. 1391, 1396, 59 L.Ed.2d. 660, 667 (1976); State v. Atkinson, 128 Idaho 559, 561-916 P.2d 1284, 1286 (Ct. App. 1996). Under the Fourth Amendment, an officer may stop a vehicle to investigate possible criminal behavior if there is a reasonable and articulable suspension that the vehicle is being driven contrary to traffic laws. *United States v.* Cortez, 449 US 411-417, 101 S.Ct. 690-695, 66 L.Ed.2d. 621, 628 (1981); State v. Flowers, 131 Idaho 205-208, 953 P.2d 645-644, (Ct. App. 1998). reasonableness of the suspension must be evaluated upon the totality of the circumstances at the time of the stop. State v. Ferreira, 131 Idaho 474-483, 988 P.2d 700-709 (Ct. App. 1999). The reasonable suspension standard requires less than probable cause but more than more than mere speculation or instinct on the part of the officer. Id. An officer may draw a reasonable inferences from the facts in his or her possession, and those inferences may be drawn from the officer's experience and law enforcement training. State v. Montague, 114 Idaho 319-312, 756 P.2d. 1083-1085 (Ct. App. 1988). Suspicion will not be found to be justified if the conduct observed by the officer fell within the broad range of what can be described as normal driving behavior. Atkinson, 128 Idaho at p. 561, 916 P.2d at 1286;"

Wheeler v. Transportation Department, 148 Idaho 374, 223 P.3d 761 (Ct App. 2009) at p. 383. See also State v. Brooks, 157 Idaho 890, 341 P.3d 1259 (Ct. App. 2014).

The case law from the U.S. Supreme Court and the Idaho Supreme Court rests on a vehicle being driven contrary to traffic laws. Mr. Hamilton's vehicle was not being driven in violation of traffic laws. The Idaho Courts have noted that: "It is well-established in Idaho that when a police officer observes conduct which leads to the reasonable conclusion that 'criminal activity may be afoot and that the person with whom he is dealing may be armed and dangerous' the officer is entitled to conduct a limited stop of the suspect." *State v. Devault*, 131 Idaho 559, 61 P.2d 641 (Ct. App. 1998). There is no evidence in this case that criminal activity was afoot. There is no evidence in this case that Mr. Hamilton had committed, or was about to commit, a criminal act. See *State v. Anderson*, 134 Idaho 552, 6 P.3d 408 (Ct. App. 2000).

I.C. §49-456(1) is clearly written and having a registration sticker outside of the rectangle box is not noted as a violation of the registration provisions. In Mr. Hamilton's case, the District Court simply cited to I.C. §49-443(4) regarding the placement of the registration sticker in the lower right-hand corner of the plate and noted I.C. §49-236(2): "It is an infraction for any person to violate any of the provision of Chapter 3, 4 and 6 through 9 of this Title unless otherwise specifically provided." R. at p. 106. The District Court at no time discusses I.C. §49-456(1). The District Court does not discuss the fact that if I.C. §49-236(2) was applicable to Chapter 4; why did the Legislature in §49-401B(6) add: "A violation of the provisions of this section shall be an infraction" to the end of I.C. §49-401B(6). The Legislature put in I.C. §49-236(2), the language: ".... unless otherwise specifically provided." When someone reads the language: "Violation of Registration Provisions - It shall be unlawful for any person: ...", one would think that this language outlines the violations for registration provisions. I.C. §49-456(1) is the "unless otherwise specifically provided" for

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