# UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-1-2016

# Hamilton v. State of Idaho, Department of Transportation Respondent's Brief Dckt. 43510

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

Mr. Hamilton timely requested a hearing with the Idaho Department of Transportation's Administrative Hearing Examiner (Ex. CR. pp. 012-018).

A hearing was held telephonically on October 1, 2014 (Ex. CR. p. 053). The Department's Hearing Examiner entered Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order sustaining the suspension of Mr. Hamilton's driving privileges (Ex. CR. pp. 358-365).

Mr. Hamilton timely filed a Petition for Judicial Review (R. pp. 369-371).

The District Court accepted briefing and heard oral argument. The District Court entered a Memorandum Decision on July 31, 2015 determining that Mr. Hamilton had failed to demonstrate that a basis existed pursuant to I.C. § 18-8002A(7) to set aside the Department's Hearing Examiner's suspension of Mr. Hamilton's driving privileges (R. pp. 102-110).

Ms. Hamilton timely appealed the District Court's decision and the suspension of Mr. Hamilton's driving privileges has been stayed pending appeal.

# II. ISSUES ON APPEAL

The issues for the Court's review are characterized as follows:

- 1. Legal cause exists for the stop of Mr. Hamilton's vehicle, I.C. § 18-8002A(7)(a).
- 2. Idaho Code §§ 49-429 and 49-443 are not unconstitutionally vague.
- The effect of adoption of Proposed and Temporary Rules for Breath Alcohol Testing Standard Operating Procedures.

Mr. Hamilton only raised issues pursuant to I.C. § 18-8002A(7)(a)&(d). Any other issue which could have been raised pursuant to I.C. § 18-8002A(7)(b-c or e) are waived. *Kugler v. Drowns, 119 Idaho 687, 809 P.2d 1116 (1991), Wheeler v. IDHW, 147 Idaho 257, 207 P.3d 988, 996 (2009).* 

## III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Idaho Code § 18-8002A(7) sets out the burden of the driver to demonstrate to the Hearing

Examiner that driving privileges should be reinstated because:

- (a) The peace officer did not have legal cause to stop the person; or
- (b) The officer did not have legal cause to believe the person had been driving or was in actual physical control of a vehicle while under the influence of alcohol, drugs or other intoxicating substances in violation of the provisions of section 18-8004, 18-8004C or 18-8006, Idaho Code; or;
- (c) The test results did not show an alcohol concentration or the presence of drugs or other intoxicating substances in violation of section 18-8004, 18-8004C or 18-8006, Idaho Code; or
- (d) The tests for alcohol concentration, drugs or other intoxicating substances administered at the direction of the peace officer were not conducted in accordance with the requirements of section 18-8004(4), Idaho Code, or the testing equipment was not functioning properly when the test was administered; or
- (e) The person was not informed of the consequences of submitting to evidentiary testing as required in subsection (2) of this section.

The review of disputed issues of fact must be confined to the agency record for judicial

review. Idaho Code § 67-5277.

Idaho Code § 67-5279(1) sets out the scope of review by the Court. "The Court shall not

substitute its judgment for that of the agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of

fact." Howard v. Canyon County Board of Commissioners, 128 Idaho 479, 915 P.2d 709 (1996).

Idaho Code § 67-5279(3) provides:

When the agency was required by the provisions of this chapter or by other provision of law to issue an order, the court shall affirm the agency action unless the court finds that the agency's findings, inferences, conclusions or decisions are:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) not supported by substantial evidence on the record as a whole; or
- (e) arbitrary, capricious, or an abuse of discretion.

The appropriate remedy pursuant to the Idaho Administrative Procedures Act is: ". . . if the agency action is not affirmed, it shall be set aside, in whole or in part and remanded for further proceedings as necessary." Idaho Code § 67-5279(3).

The Idaho Supreme Court has held that the decision of the Department's Hearing Examiner must be affirmed unless the order violates statutory or constitutional provisions, exceeds the agency's authority, is made upon unlawful procedure, is not supported by substantial evidence or is arbitrary, capricious or an abuse of discretion. *Marshall v. Idaho Transportation Department, 137 Idaho 337, 48 P.3d 666 (2002).* The party challenging the agency decision must demonstrate that the agency erred in a manner specified in Idaho Code § 67-5279(3) and that a substantial right of that party has been prejudiced. *Druffel v. State, Dept. of Trans., 136 Idaho 853, 41 P.3d 739 (2002).* 

Further, the grounds for vacating a license suspension on judicial review are limited to those set out in I.C. § 18-8002A(7), *State Transp. Dept. v. Kalani-Keegan, 155 Idaho 297, 311 P.3d 309 (Ct. App. 2013).* 

Appellate review of the District Court's decision requires the Court to review "the agency record independently of the District Court's decision", *Marshall v. Dept. of Transp. 137 Idaho 337, 340, 48 P.3d 666,669 (Ct. App. 2002).* 

Mr. Hamilton has not provided a sufficient legal basis to set aside the administrative action of the Department suspending Mr. Hamilton's driving privileges.

## **IV. ARGUMENT**

### **ISSUE I.**

Legal cause exists to stop Mr. Hamilton's motor vehicle, I.C. § 18-8002A(7)(a).

Mr. Hamilton argues that he has met his burden pursuant to I.C. § 18-8002A(7)(a) demonstrating that legal cause did not exist for Trooper Talbott's stop of Mr. Hamilton's vehicle.<sup>1</sup>

Trooper Talbott stopped Mr. Hamilton's vehicle for improperly displayed registration stickers. The condition of Mr. Hamilton's license plates at the time of Trooper Talbott is not factually disputed (Ex. CR. p. 332).

Idaho Code § 18-8002A(7)(a) requires Mr. Hamilton show by a preponderance of the evidence that legal cause did not exist to stop Mr. Hamilton's vehicle. Legal cause for these purposes is a

...reasonable and articulable suspicion that the vehicle is being driven contrary to traffic laws. The reasonableness of the suspicion must be evaluated upon the totality of the circumstances at the time of the stop. The reasonable suspicion standard requires less than probable cause the more than mere speculation or instinct on the part of the officer, *In re Suspension of Driver's License Gibbar*, *155 P.3d 1176 (Ct. App. 2006), State v. Wheeler, 149 Idaho 364, 233 P.3d 1286 (Ct. App. 2010).* 

Mr. Hamilton engages in a somewhat convoluted analysis of Idaho Code's motor vehicle registration provisions concluding that the Legislature has not made the circumstances of the display of registration stickers unlawful. Trooper Talbott indicates that he stopped Mr. Hamilton's vehicle "for improper registration stickers (obstructed white colored sticker in lower right-hand corner and a red colored sticker near the bottom edge near the middle), I.C. § 49-443(4))", (Ex. CR. p. 006).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> It is Mr. Hamilton's burden to demonstrate that:

<sup>&</sup>quot;The peace officer did not have legal cause to stop the person."

The Hearing Examiner carefully considers Mr. Hamilton's argument entering Findings of

Fact and Conclusions of Law (FFCLO) consistent with the record before him.<sup>2</sup>

In particular the Hearing Examiner's analysis of the motor vehicle registration statutory provisions is an appropriate legal analysis. I.C. § 49-428 provides "the annual registration sticker for the current registration year shall be displayed on each license plate". Idaho Code § 49-428(2) goes on to provide in pertinent part "... all registration stickers shall be securely attached

1.

Did Senior Trooper Jeffory Talbott have Legal Cause to Stop the vehicle Hamilton was driving?

- 1. Senior Trooper stopped the vehicle driven by Hamilton for having an improper registration sticker, a violation of Idaho Code §49-443(4).
- 2. An obstructed white colored registration sticker was in the license plate's lower right hand corner.
- 3. A red colored registration sticker was placed near the license plate's middle bottom edge.
- 4. Hamilton argued Idaho Code §49-433(4) was not a traffic infraction violation and therefore Senior Trooper Talbott did not have legal cause to enact a traffic stop.
- 5. Idaho Code §49-428(2) provides [e]very license plate shall at all times be securely fastened to the vehicle to which to which it is assigned to prevent the plate from swinging, be at a height not less than twelve (12) inches from the ground, measuring from the bottom of the plate, be in a place and position to be clearly visible, and shall be maintained free from foreign materials and in a condition to be clearly legible, and *all registration stickers shall be securely attached to the license plate and shall be displayed as provided in section 49-443(4), Idaho Code* (emphasis added).
- 6. Idaho Code §49-443(4) sets forth that [1]icense plates issued for vehicle required to be registered in accordance with the provisions of section <u>49-402</u> and <u>49-402A</u>, Idaho Code, shall be issued color coded red, white or blue registration validation stickers showing the year of registration. Each registration validation sticker shall bear a number from 1 through 12, which number shall correspond to the month of the calendar year in which the registration of the vehicle expires and shall be <u>affixed to the lower right-hand corner of the plates within the outlined rectangular area</u> (emphasis added).
- 7. Idaho Code §49-428(2) clearly notes a vehicle is not properly registered if the registration sticker is not located on the license plate as set forth in Idaho Code §49-443(4).
- 8. Idaho Code §49-443(4) is more specific in directing where a registration sticker needs to be placed on a license plate.
- 9. Exhibit O provides Hamilton did not place the license plat sticker as required by Idaho Code §49-443(4).
- 10. Hamilton was not only in violation of Idaho Code §49-443(4), he was also in violation of Idaho Code §49-428(2) when he placed the registration sticker in the incorrect area on the license plate.
- 11. Even if Idaho Code §49-443(4) is not an infraction traffic violation, Exhibit O shows Hamilton was still driving a motor vehicle in violation of this statute.
- 12. Additionally, Hamilton did not present any proof by the preponderance of the evidence indicating Senior Trooper Talbott was prevented by any Idaho Code, Idaho court decision, or IDAPA Rule from stopping any vehicle for being in violation of Idaho Code §49-443(4).
- 13. Although the owner of the license plate noted in Exhibits L. M. and O failed to display a current registration sticker, the owner of this license plate could be stopped by Senior Trooper Talbott or any other law enforcement officer for violating Idaho Code §49-456(1).
- 14. Senior Trooper Talbott had legal cause to stop the vehicle driven by Hamilton.

Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order, pp. 4-5, R. pp.361-362. Emphasis original.

<sup>2</sup> 

to the license plates and shall be displayed as provided in I.C. § 49-443(4)". The Hearing Examiner correctly cites the applicable code provisions and analyzes those code provisions appropriately, (FFCLO 1.5, 1.7 and 1.10 FN 2).

Idaho Code § 49-443(4) again in pertinent part provides that the registration sticker "shall be affixed to the lower right-hand corner of the plates within the outlined rectangular area". The Hearing Examiner correctly analyzes the requirement that Mr. Hamilton was to place the registration stickers in a designated place, (FFCLO 1.6, 1.7, 1.8, 1.9, 1.10, 1.11 and 1.12 FN 2).

The Hearing Examiner correctly determines that Mr. Hamilton's registration stickers are not within the "outlined rectangular area" at the time of the stop. Mr. Hamilton does not contend that the registration stickers are not in the right place, Mr. Hamilton just argues that the improper display of registration stickers simply cannot be the basis for a motor vehicle stop.

Unfortunately the Department's Hearing Examiner appears to have had a difficult time with Mr. Hamilton's argument as to the application of I.C. § 49-456. I.C. § 49-456 is not helpful to determine whether the failure to comply with I.C. § 49-428 and I.C. § 49-443 constitutes a violation of the law (See FFCLO 1.14 FN2).

There is no question that the improper display of registration stickers is a violation of traffic laws, justifying Trooper Talbott's stop of Mr. Hamilton's vehicle. Idaho Code § 49-236(2) provides that "it is an infraction for any person to violate any of the provisions of chapters 3, 4 and 6-9 of this title unless otherwise specifically provided". Idaho Code § 49-456 calls out other acts involving vehicle license plate display which are clearly not at issue here.<sup>3</sup>

An infraction is "a civil public offense, not constituting a crime which is not punishable by incarceration and for which there is no right to trial by jury or right court appointed counsel, and which is punishable by a penalty not exceeding \$300 and no imprisonment" I.C. § 49-110(4). The Court's Infraction Rules clearly recognize such traffic infractions and the corresponding penalty for an unlawful act.<sup>4</sup>

The Idaho Legislature has clearly described the circumstances under which a license plate and the annual registration stickers are to be displayed. The nonmoving infraction of failing to

<sup>3</sup> Idaho Code § 49-456 provides:

(3) To display or cause or permit to be displayed, or to have in possession any registration card or license plate knowing the same to be fictitious or to have been canceled, revoked, suspended or altered.

(4) To lend or knowingly permit the use by one not entitled to any registration card or license plate issued to the person so lending or permitting that use.

(5) To fail or refuse to surrender to the department, upon demand, any registration card or license plate which has been suspended, canceled or revoked.

(6) To use a false or fictitious name or address in any application for the registration of any vehicle or for any renewal or duplicate, or knowingly to make a false statement or conceal a material fact or otherwise commit a fraud in any application.

VIOLATIONS OF REGISTRATION PROVISIONS. It shall be unlawful for any person:

<sup>(1)</sup> To operate or for the owner to permit the operation upon a highway of any motor vehicle, trailer or semitrailer which is not registered and which does not have attached and displayed the license plates assigned to it for the current registration year, subject to the exemptions allowed in sections  $\underline{49-426}$ ,  $\underline{49-431}$  and  $\underline{49-432}$ , Idaho Code.

<sup>(2)</sup> To operate or for the owner to permit the operation on state and federal lands or upon highways, or sections of highways, as permitted under section  $\underline{49-426}(3)$  and (4), Idaho Code, any all-terrain vehicle, utility type vehicle or motorbike that does not have a valid and properly displayed restricted license plate issued pursuant to this chapter and attached registration sticker issued pursuant to section  $\underline{67-7122}$ , Idaho Code, subject to the exemptions allowed in section  $\underline{49-426}(2)$ , Idaho Code.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Non-moving traffic infractions. (Fixed penalty \$10.50, court costs \$16.50, County Justice fund fee \$5.00,, peace officer's training fee \$15.00, ISTARS technology fund fee \$10.00 and emergencies surcharge fee \$10.00) \$67.00. Idaho Infraction Rules 9(23).

properly display registration stickers is a law violation justifying the stop of Mr. Hamilton's vehicle.

There is no factual question about the condition of the license plate on the motor vehicle driven by Mr. Hamilton. The Record clearly demonstrates that Mr. Hamilton's 2015 registration sticker is improperly placed and that the area in which the registration sticker is to be placed is obstructed (Ex. CR. p. 332).

The Department's Hearing Examiner makes thorough and detailed Findings and Conclusions as to Mr. Hamilton's failure to demonstrate that legal cause did not exist when Trooper Talbott stopped Mr. Hamilton's motor vehicle (FN 2).

The Hearing Examiner's FFCLO are based on the record as a whole and are not arbitrary and capricious or clearly erroneous.<sup>5</sup>

Mr. Hamilton's vehicle was being driven "contrary to traffic laws", Gibbar at p. 942.

Trooper Talbott clearly had legal cause to stop Mr. Hamilton's vehicle.

## **ISSUE 2.**

## Idaho Code §§ 49-428 and 49-443 are not unconstitutionally vague.

Mr. Hamilton contends that I.C. §§ 49-428 and 49-443 are either facially unconstitutionally vague or unconstitutionally vague as applied to Mr. Hamilton's conduct. This issue is not before the Court on judicial review. Mr. Hamilton has failed to preserve this issue for judicial review by failing to argue the vagueness of I.C. §§ 49-428 and 49-443 before the Department's Hearing Examiner.

The Idaho Courts have required participants in the Administrative License Suspension process to raise issues of constitutionality before the Department's Hearing Examiner even if the

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